
NOTE – At the commencement of the meeting there 
will be a public forum for up to 15 minutes which 
will offer members of the public the opportunity to 
make statements or ask questions. 

County Offices
Newland

Lincoln
LN1 1YL

27 March 2017

Mid-Lincolnshire Local Access Forum Meeting

A meeting of the Mid-Lincolnshire Local Access Forum will be held on Tuesday, 4 
April 2017 at 2.00 pm in Committee Room Three, County Offices, Newland, 
Lincoln LN1 1YL for the transaction of the business set out on the attached Agenda. 

Yours sincerely

Tony McArdle
Chief Executive

Membership of the Mid-Lincolnshire Local Access Forum

Chris Padley, (Users of Local Rights of Way) (Chairman)
Sheila Brookes, (Users of Local Rights of Way) (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Denis Colin Hoyes MBE, (Lincolnshire County Council)
Councillor Daniel McNally, (Lincolnshire County Council)
Councillor Iain Colquhoun, (North East Lincolnshire Council)
Sandra Harrison, (Landowners)
Ray Shipley, (Landowners)
Dr Chris Allison, (Users of Local Rights of Way)
Richard East, (Users of Local Rights of Way)
Peter McKenzie-Brown, (Users of Local Rights of Way)
Deborah North, (Users of Local Rights of Way)
Colin Smith, (Users of Local Rights of Way)
Richard Graham, (Other Interests)
3 Vacancies (Land Owners)
4 Vacancies (Other Interests)

Public Document Pack





MID-LINCOLNSHIRE LOCAL ACCESS FORUM AGENDA
 TUESDAY, 4 APRIL 2017

Item Title Report 
Reference 

1 Apologies for Absence 

2 Declarations of Members' Interests 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting of the Mid Lincolnshire Local 
Access Forum held on 24 January 2017 (Pages 5 

- 10)

4 Actions Arising Since the Previous Meeting fo the Forum (if 
any) 

5 Generic Advice to Planners 
(Leicestershire Local Access Forum have produced generic advice 
to Planning Authorities in connection with Rights of Way. The 
Forum is asked for its views on whether similar advice can be used 
by this Forum)

(Pages 
11 - 16)

6 Permissive Access 
(John Law, a member of the South Lincs LAF has forwarded the 
attached report and Chris Padley will speak on this item)

(Pages 
17 - 22)

7 Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO's) 
(John Law, a member of the South Lincs LAF, has forwarded the 
attached report and Chris Padley will speak on this item)

(Pages 
23 - 38)

8 Bennerley Viaduct Project 
(John Law, a member of the South Lincs LAF, has forwarded the 
attached report and Chris Padley will speak on this item)

(Pages 
39 - 50)

9 Countryside for All 
(John Law, a member of the South Lincs LAF, has forwarded the 
attached report and Chris Padley will speak on this item)

(Pages 
51 - 54)

10 North East Lincolnshire Countryside and Rights of Way 
Improvement Plan 
(A report by Matthew Chaplin, Rights of Way Officer, North East 
Lincolnshire Council, in connection with the latest update of the 
Plan)

(Pages 
55 - 56)

11 Lincolnshire County Council Definitive Map Modification 
Orders - Ongoing 
(A report by Chris Miller, Team Leader, Countryside Services, on 
the latest update of these Orders)

(Pages 
57 - 64)

12 North East Lincolnshire Council Progress of Definitive Map 
Modification Orders 
(A report by Matthew Chaplin, Rights of Way Officer, North East 
Lincolnshire Council, on the latest update of these Orders)

(Pages 
65 - 66)



13 Lincolnshire County Council Progress of Public Path Orders 
(A report by Chris Miller, Countryside Services Team Leader, on 
the latest update of these Orders)

(Pages 
67 - 68)

14 North East Lincolnshire Council Progress of Public Path 
Orders 
(A report by Matthew Chaplin, Rights of Way Officer, North East 
Lincolnshire Council, in connection with the latest update of these 
Orders)

(Pages 
69 - 70)

15 Date and Time of the Next Meeting 

Democratic Services Officer Contact Details 

Name: Steve Blagg
Direct Dial 01522 553788
E Mail Address steve.blagg@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Please Note: for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting

 Business of the meeting
 Any special arrangements
 Copies of reports

Contact details set out above.

All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords


  1 

 
 

 

 

 

 
Representing Lincolnshire County Council: Councillors D McNally 
 
Representing North East Lincolnshire Council: No one present 
 
Representing Independent Members: Dr Chris Allison, Ray Shipley, Sheila Brookes, 
Colin Smith and Richard Graham 
 
Officers: Steve Blagg (Democratic Services Officer), Matthew Chaplin (Public Rights 
of Way Mapping Officer), Christopher Marsh (Senior Highways Officer (Countryside)) 
and Chris Miller (Environmental Services Team Leader (Countryside Services)) 
 
40     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Iain Colquhoun and Deborah 
North. 
 
41     DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

 
No declarations were made at this stage of the meeting. 
 
42     MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE MID LINCOLNSHIRE 

LOCAL ACCESS FORUM HELD ON 18 OCTOBER 2016 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 18 October 2016, be confirmed as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
43     ACTIONS ARISING SINCE THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE FORUM 

 
44     MINUTE 28 - ENGLISH COASTAL PATH 

 
In response to a question from Colin Smith in connection with progress of the English 
Coastal Path, officers stated that the proposed route of the path from Skegness to 
Mablethorpe was due to be published by Natural England in early March 2017. 
Objections received to the proposed route of the path around the golf course on the 
north shore, Skegness and safety concerns in connection with the crossing of 
Quebec Road in Mablethorpe would be addressed by the Planning Inspector.  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 

 

 

Officers stated that the proposed route from Sutton Bridge to Skegness was not as 
advanced with issues in the vicinity of Gibraltar Point being resolved and the option of 
using the Internal Drainage Board bridge to cross the river together with mitigation 
measures to protect wildlife being put in place. 
 
45     MINUTE 30 - ACCESSIBILITY AMBASSADORS 

 
This item was covered in minute No. 49. 
 
46     MINUTE 32 - HEALTH RELATED WALKS FROM APRIL 2017 

 
This item was covered in minute No. 49. 
 
47     DE-REGULATION ACT 

 
In response to a question from Colin Smith in connection with progress of the 
implementation of the De-Regulation Act, officers stated that as affirmation of both 
Houses of Parliament were required before the Act could be enacted and this was 
unlikely as the Government had more important legislation to consider. Officers 
stated that other issues causing a delay to the introduction of the legislation included 
the Treasury's wish to see written guidance of the cost implications included and the 
possible suggestion of splitting the legislative package. The responsible Minister for 
introducing the legislation was keen to keep the package together. Officers stated 
that any legislation would not be introduced before 1 April 2017. 
 
48     "GETTING ACTIVE OUTDOORS" - AN UPDATE BY RACHEL BELCHER, 

LINCOLNSHIRE SPORT 
 

Rachel Belcher, Lincolnshire Sport, gave details of a new strategy adopted by Sport 
England following a statement by the Government that Sport England was not hitting 
the health agenda. Sport England was therefore moving away from support for its 
traditional areas to try and get people more active out of doors and one of these aims 
was to try and get more people walking. Details of the proposals were outlined which 
included training twelve "Champions" to train people at a local level, particularly 
younger people so that they could spread the message of the health benefits to their 
families. She stated that it was proposed to start the initiative in Boston and South 
Holland as these areas had high levels of inactivity. It was proposed to use "apps" on 
mobile phones to allow participants to plan routes. She added that walks for people 
suffering from dementia had been trialled in Hartsholme Park where over 226 people 
had taken part and 101 families involved. She stated that the demand was there and 
that walking provided a good activity to start off with. 
 
Comments by the Forum and responses included the following:- 
 

  The proposals were welcomed. 

  Care was needed not to put participants off and walking distances needed to 
be reasonable to start off with. Treasure hunts were a good idea to get 
people's interest. Lincolnshire Sports was also working with individual groups 
in East Lindsey to start the initiative. 

Page 6



3 

 

 

 Lincolnshire Sport was working in consultation with the NHS to provide support 
for carers working with people suffering from dementia and GP surgeries. 

 In some cases schools were asked to design walks for after school activities 
including nature walks in consultation with the Wildlife Trust. 

 The "Champions" were aiming to attract young families and the elderly in the 
Boston and South Holland areas. 

 It was noted that West Lindsey District Council had withdrawn financial support 
for volunteers in its area. Some volunteers travelled a long way and there 
could be some support from the Co-op to meet their costs. 

 Map reading skills could be promoted in the various walking groups and Rachel 
Belcher agreed to provide contact details. 

 It was important to introduce a social dimension to the walks which would 
encourage participation. This might include a visit to a RSPB reserve and 
ascertaining people's hobbies. There was a need to avoid participants having 
to travel long distances. 

 It was agreed that there was a need to monitor the results of the project and 
show value for money for the NHS by the increase in physical activity. 

 The use of apps allowed people to create their own walks. 

 Both Access Forums should be kept updated of the progress of the project. 
 

The Forum placed on record its appreciation to Rachel Belcher for an interesting 
presentation and gave their full support to the Lincolnshire Sport project. 
 
49     COUNTRYSIDE FOR ALL ROUTES 

 
The Forum received a progress report from John Law, a member of the South 
Lincolnshire Local Access Forum, in connection with the development of routes for all 
in the countryside. In response to some questions asked by John Law in his report 
officers stated that the Accessibility Ambassadors should contact the Rights of Way 
section whose details were available on the Council's website. With regard to the 
various questions asked under paragraph 10 (Disability Sub Group Change of Name 
and Logo), the Forum concurred with the responses of the Disability Sub Group. 
 
50     NORTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTRYSIDE AND RIGHTS OF WAY 

IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
 

The Forum received a progress report from North East Lincolnshire Council in 
connection with its Countryside and Rights of Way Improvement Plan. Officers stated 
that in addition to the information provided in the report the line of Footpath 72 
requiring amendment to the Definitive Map and the reinstatement of the path on the 
ground would take place this week. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 

Page 7



4 

 

 

51     LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PROGRESS OF DEFINITIVE MAP 
MODIFICATION ORDERS 
 

(NOTE: Sheila Brookes left the meeting during this item) 
 
The Forum received a report from Lincolnshire County Council on the progress of its 
Definitive Map Modification Orders. Officers stated that as many of the cases were 
quite old the user evidence was poor. 
 
The Forum commented that many of the cases did not support a public right of way 
and that a review of how orders were prioritised might be necessary. Also, 
consideration should be given to the likelihood of a case succeeding and that one of 
the issues with the current system was that when there was a natural delay 
applications went automatically to the bottom of the list for consideration. The Forum 
stated that consideration should be given to those cases that if taken out of sequence 
could lead to a positive outcome. Officers stated that any request to take a case out 
of sequence in the priority list was a decision for the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way Sub-Committee. Officers stated that under the De-Regulation 
Act the priority system would require alteration but they accepted the Forum's point 
about the need to consider the priority system. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report and the comments made by the Forum be noted.     
 
52     NORTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL PROGRESS OF DEFINITIVE 

MAP MODIFICATION ORDERS 
 

The Forum received a report from North East Lincolnshire Council in connection with 
the progress of its Definitive Map Modification Orders. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
53     LINCOLNSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL PROGRESS OF PUBLIC PATH 

ORDERS 
 

(NOTE: Councillor D McNally left the meeting during this item and the meeting 
became inquorate) 
 
The Forum received a progress report from Lincolnshire County Council in 
connection with its Public Path Orders. Officers stated that in connection with the 
Coastal Country Park the Council was about to start formal consultations on the 
proposed diversions to realign routes in the Park which hopefully would improve 
connectivity. 
 
Since the publication of the report officers updated the Forum as follows:-  
 

Page 8



5 

 

 

 With regard to the level crossing diversion orders at Tallington the Council was 
still waiting for the Statement of Reasons for the diversion from Network Rail. 
A member of the Forum commented that he had received notice from the 
Council that the Orders had been withdrawn and officers agreed to check out 
this information which could have been a misunderstanding.  

 There was an alternative route being investigated in connection with Claypole 
level crossing but it required landowner engagement. 

 It was now possible to progress the diversion of the footpath now that it was no 
longer a bridleway at North Somercotes and there were on-going talks with the 
Environment Agency as it was likely to be proposed that the route would 
become part of the new English coastal path. 

 
Comments by the Forum included:- 
 

 The need to remove a kissing gate on a path in Branston because it was no 
longer required. Officers stated that the cost of removal was expensive and 
larger problem was with inaccessible stiles. Officers informed the Forum that 
385 such stiles had been removed in the last ten years in the north west of the 
county by one officer alone. It was suggested that the issue at Branston 
should be raised with the local County Councillor. 

 Because of the shortage of funding from the County Council Lincolnshire Sport 
should be approached for funding 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That the report and comments made by the Forum be noted. 
 
54     NORTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCIL PROGRESS OF PUBLIC PATH 

ORDERS 
 

The Forum received a progress report from North East Lincolnshire Council in 
connection with their Public Path Orders. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
55     DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETING 

 
It was agreed that the next meeting of the Forum should be arranged for 2.00pm on 
Tuesday 4 April 2017 at the County Offices, Lincoln. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 3.30 pm 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



This is a generic advice / response agreed by Leicestershire Local Access Forum to be given 
to planning authorities and or developers. Elements may be omitted depending on their 
relevance to any particular situation and points may be added regarding specific applications 
after email or other consultations with the members of the Planning & Travel Committee. 
 
 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 
 
The Leicestershire Local Access Forum (LLAF) wishes to make what we trust you will find 
constructive suggestions for when considering planning applications and local plans. Planners 
are quite constrained by national guidelines but still have sufficient discretion to make a 
difference in a number of areas of concern. 
 
The LLAF is an independent statutory body, set up as a result of the Countryside and Rights 
of Way Act (CRoW) 2000, and exists to represent the interests of everyone concerned with 
access to the countryside and the public rights of way network including footpaths, bridleways 
and byways, cycleways and areas of open access. 
 
Section 94 of the CROW act makes it a statutory function of the Forum to give advice to a 
range of bodies, including local authorities, on access issues in respect of land use planning 
matters. 
 
Ministers have advised that in particular forums were asked to focus on the impact and 
options for minimising possible adverse effects, of planning policies and development 
proposals in respect of future public access to land and identifying and expressing support for 
opportunities to improve public access, or associated infrastructure, which might be delivered 
through planning policies or new development.  
 
There are three issues which we wish to highlight where the planning process can help 
greatly. There is an amount of overlap. 
 
These are: 
 
 

Access and sustainable travel    
 

Open spaces for both people and wildlife 
 
Planning for the environment. 
 
 
Access and sustainable travel 
    
When considering new developments, the design of our neighbourhoods is key to promoting 
healthy travel habits, where local facilities such as shops, doctors, schools and other services 
are located to encourage routine walking and cycling. 
 
The benefits of the footpath, bridleway and cycleway networks are multi-dimensional and 
have impacts on sustainable travel, green infrastructure, recreation, tourism, local economies, 
health and general well-being.  They are an essential mechanism for linking communities and 
facilities if we are to reduce motorised transport and the carbon emissions that ensue. They 
play a major part in the development of the recreational potential of any area. It is essential  ttoo  

create a physical, social, economic, and legal context in which more people will be 
encouraged to walk more often and to walk further. 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



The benefits of the rights of way network should be balanced against the need to protect and 
enhance the ecology and landscape and enable regeneration and economic growth. These 
should not be viewed simply as competing demands but as a challenge to use best practice 
and/or innovative approaches to achieve good quality outcomes to meet each of the 
aspirations. The LLAF recommends that any policy includes a dedicated section that makes 
specific reference to the existing network and potential improvements to it and to this end we 
would suggest the paragraphs in appendix 1 be included in any policy or plan. 
 
When looking at planning applications there are a number of areas that should be considered. 
If we want to encourage sustainable travel and improved physical and mental health of the 
residents, then all developments should be designed to encourage and facilitate the taking of 
exercise by walking. This does not mean providing no bus service but it does mean wherever 
possible offering attractive alternatives. 
 
Snickets and cut-throughs should enable people to get to facilities such as shops, schools 
and bus routes.  We need however to look at the bigger picture beyond the actual potential 
development site. Does an existing right of way pass nearby or is there some green space 
close by? If so can a link from the site be achieved? If not within the control of the landowner 
could section 106 monies ‘buy’ a way to join the network up? 
 
We need to ensure that in the planning of our communities, access to basic amenities and 
services is not dependent on car ownership but is always available to those on foot, bicycle, 
wheelchair and public transport. 
 
Open spaces for both people and wildlife 
 
If we are to encourage walking we need attractive places to attract them. Green open spaces 
are great for wildlife and provide an outlet for residents to enjoy. If trees feature they are also 
‘lungs’ helping counteract air pollution. Planners should always bear this in mind when 
permission is requested to remove trees. 
 
The built environment has a major impact on how we travel, so planners and policymakers 
have an opportunity to make changes in that environment to promote healthier and more 
active communities. The presence of, and access to, green areas and the natural 
environment can help increase activity and reduce obesity. Daily physical activity is essential 
for maintaining health; inactivity directly contributes to 15% of deaths in the UK  
 
Whether for walking, running or the riding of either bicycles or horses, the benefits of all kinds 
of access to green space have mental and general health benefits plus many economic 
benefits especially to rural communities by transferring money from the urban areas to the 
countryside.  To harness these benefits a concerted and co-ordinated effort is needed from 
policy makers, planners, public health practitioners, health professionals, the voluntary sector, 
community groups, local media and the public themselves. This collaborative effort needs to 
identify available green spaces, make them safe and accessible for everyone, make use of 
them for community and group activities and prescribe their use to promote health and 
wellbeing. They could help treat a number of conditions, particularly mild to moderate 
depression. Planning can assist by either encouraging provision within developments or 
rejecting applications which would threaten such areas. 
 
Larger developments are required to leave green oases but these are often overly manicured. 
Sewn and fertilised ‘parks’ are good at absorbing rainwater but rough grassland is over four 
times more effective and trees improve things further. Such wilder ‘semi-natural’ areas are 
also much better for wildlife. We must plan for more absorbent habitats especially in the flood 
plains. Wetlands and woodlands are ideal at holding back floodwaters as are moors but these 

Page 12



are in short supply in Leicestershire. They also provide a varied landscape for residents to 
access and enjoy. 
 
The National Planning Policy [NPPF] provides protection for Local Green Space although 
local Green Space does not have a single definition but provided it is of local significance to 
the community it should be protected.  
 

All new development should produce a green infrastructure plan to show how the 
development can improve green spaces and corridors for people and nature, in the context of 
the surrounding landscape.  

 

Even small scale developments could contribute significantly to creating and enhancing local 
wildlife habitat thereby encouraging people to get out into the wilder areas to see it. This may 
be by requiring or suggesting using native plants in landscaping schemes. Also for every tree 
that is removed they could be required to plant two or even three. Developers should be 
encouraged to create new habitat such as woodland, wetland, wildflower meadows or other 
wildlife habitats and adding a green roof to new buildings is also to be encouraged 
 
It can be a win-win situation. If we create wetland and woodland areas and green corridors 
linking them, we can help wildlife to migrate between populations keeping them healthier and 
introducing them to our gardens; can create ideal walking possibilities for the health and 
general well being of the population and cut down the risk of flooding all at the same time. 
 
We must protect and extend natural habitats that soak up and store rainwater.  We can 
employ these natural processes in urban areas, including water-holding habitats in the urban 
scene and by installing more green roofs on our houses and garages, more permeable 
surfaces in our towns and cities and more sustainable drainage systems to capture excess 
water. 
 
Planning for the environment. 
 
Many parts of Leicestershire suffer air pollution levels close to or in excess of acceptability. 
When agreeing any new roads or industrial sites it is essential not to add to this problem. 
 
Parts of the County are prone to flooding which can close off rights of way and hinder access 
to open spaces. All applications should be assessed for impact in this regard. Other parts of 
the country have suffered far worse, but homes in some areas are at risk and we must not 
add to the problem. There is increasing pressure to build in the flood plain of the Soar and its 
tributaries in particular the Rothley Brook corridor. 
 
It is little use building flood protection barriers if it just transfers the problem downstream. 
 
When looking at major developments flood relief basins are required but more use of planning 
could be made on a small scale. Wherever possible parking areas should be made of 
permeable material and that includes drives to domestic properties. Far too many homes are 
paving over front gardens for parking which stops rain being absorbed into the ground and 
speeds up run off. Urban areas lack the vegetated spaces needed to absorb water 
safely and release it slowly. Poor planning in the past has allowed too much hard 
landscaping.  Another means of slowing this run off which planning can promote is the 
application of green roofs to larger constructions.  
 
We need an integrated approach to flood alleviation and water quality issues and 
adverse side effects like wildlife decline. This is just as important locally as 

Page 13



nationally and we must stop ignoring Environment Agency advice and building in the 
wrong places.  
 
Where Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SuDS) are needed they should be designed in 
a way that benefits wildlife. Good SuDS schemes not only help with water management to 
prevent flooding but also benefit wildlife for little or no extra cost and provide attractive oases 
for walkers to visit.  

 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 
 
Footpaths, Bridleways, Cycleways and Access Land 
 
1. Whenever new developments are considered it is important that improvements to the 
foot/bridle/cycle path network are considered.  Such changes should aim to improve 
sustainable transport, green infrastructure, recreation, tourism, health and general well-being. 
Improvements will normally have beneficial impact on local economies and the aspiration 
should be for improvements rather than for maintenance of the status quo. Considering their 
public utility, footpaths have very low maintenance costs. The larger the scale of any 
developments, the greater should be the opportunity to enhance all aspects of the 
foot/bridle/cycle paths network. 
 
2. The most important property of the network is the inter-connectedness of the network itself.  
Every opportunity should be taken to improve the inter-linking of the network so that it 
becomes more useful to the public.   
 
3. Opportunities should be taken for giving rights of way a higher status whenever possible. 
For example, bridleways are legally useable by both cyclists and pedestrians whilst footpaths 
can only be used by walkers.  
 
4. For the maximum public benefits, the main target groups are schoolchildren and short-
distance commuters.  In essence, these require direct routes from A to B. Such routes should 
also provide safe and pleasant access to and from public transport facilities, local shops, 
medical centres etc.  
 
5. For recreation, families look for attractive circular routes. Based on the experience of the 
LLAF, recreational routes are preferred where they are away from traffic; beside water; with 
open space on one side and, whenever possible, having a good surface (pram-pushing, child-
biking, walking and riding).  They are most popular when free from  stiles and gates. 
 
6. New housing developments will contain a large number of dog walkers and these users 
need to be catered for.  Circular routes of about one kilometre are most useful for these.  
 
7. Where significant mixed foot, horse and cycling traffic is expected, the way needs to be of 
appropriate width to allow all traffic to pass easily and safely and, where practical, different 
classes of users should be provided with their own space. Wherever possible motorised traffic 
is to be kept separate from other users. 
 
8. The surfaces of the foot/bridle/cycle path network should be appropriate for its use and the 
amount of traffic expected. Cycleways for example need an all-weather surface otherwise 
they soon become too muddy for general use and some bridleways can become so cut up by 
horses that the surfaces become difficult for use by pedestrians. These problems can be 
avoided by appropriate drainage and surfacing.  

Page 14



 
9. In order to assist the less able and those pushing buggies etc., gates/gaps/stiles should be 
as easy to use as the requirements permit. On bridleways, gates should allow operation by 
riders  without dismounting. 
 
10. In some circumstances, particularly in built-up areas, lighting of the foot/bridle/cycle path 
may be required.   
 
11. When a development fronts an existing road, separation zones e.g. grass verges or 
‘behind the hedge’ routes should be considered to take walkers, cyclists and horse riders 
away from motorised traffic. Every opportunity should be taken to create new routes and to 
link up with any existing routes, although care needs to be exercised in planning where users 
can re-access the highway.  
 
12. New foot/bridle/cycle paths can often usefully be combined with “green wedges” and 
“wildlife corridors” thus also fulfilling the need to protect and enhance both the ecology and 
landscape. 
 
13. Longer distance routes for those taking exercise or pursuing treks as a hobby, bring 
visitors into rural areas boosting local economies and to this end all opportunities should be 
taken to improve connectivity to local services 
 
14. It is often thought that the rights of way network is already fixed, but this is not true.  
Leicestershire has hundreds of “lost ways” and informal “desire paths”.  Any proposed 
development should aim to recover these historic assets or link existing paths together. 
Informal paths should not be ignored just because they have no legal protection.The LLAF 
working with the County Council has established a wish list of many of the possibilities and 
these can be made available to planning authorities or developers. 
 
15. As required by statute, Leicestershire County Council has a Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan which should be consulted when developments are proposed. 
 
 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Mid Lincolnshire Local Access Forum – 4 April 2017

Permissive Access

Email to Chancellor of the Exchequer and Chief Secretary of the Treasury 

Rt Hon Philip Hammond MP, Chancellor of the Exchequer
 
Whilst realising you have many pressing issues to attend to in the run up to the new 
situation after we leave the EU the Leicestershire Local Access Forum would like to 
put some suggestions on the table.
 
After Brexit the considerable funds provided by the Common Agricultural Policy to 
the UK to support farming, will be coming out of the monies to be retained by the 
National Exchequer. These funds should we feel be targeted at desirable outcomes, 
often environmental, rather than a subsidy for production
 
We have made the case to DeFRA for post-Brexit payments to include payment for 
providing public access to the countryside.  There is a desperate need to separate 
the non-motorised from vehicles when using rural roads – the most dangerous 
category of roads. This either by providing new multi-user routes (walkers, cyclists, 
equestrians, disabled) on parallel alignments or funding diversions and creations so 
that it is less necessary to use a road to travel between off-road tracks to continue 
the journey. 
 
Healthy exercise and non motorised travel are good for the nation’s general health 
and wellbeing and reduce the burden on the NHS but people must be able to do this 
without the risk of death or injury. We do not imagine that public funds are ever likely 
to be available to create a fully-connected second highway network for the non-
motorised but we feel progress could be made by subsidies to farmers being 
targeted to encourage provision of tracks where there is an obvious need. Whether 
any proposed new routes would be useful could be assessed by the local Access 
Forum.
 
We urge the Government to ensure that there are additional and specific funds to 
support improvements to public access to land across England in the post-Brexit 
settlement and hope it will have your support. Farmers can be supported; people 
offered a safer environment and the NHS a reduced demand. A win-win situation.
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Email to local MP

RURAL FUNDING

LEICESTERSHIRE LOCAL ACCESS FORUM (LLAF) SUGGESTIONS FOR 
TARGETED LANDOWNER SUBSIDIES
 
In the interests of the safety of travellers by non motorised means we think that 
subsidies to landowners can be better targeted to give the general public better 
value for these public funds. Non motorised travel is good for the environment and 
good for the general health, fitness and wellbeing of those enjoying it. Presumably 
the whole issue of funding subsidies to the agricultural sector will be revisited when 
we stop contributing to the EU and getting some of our money back.
 
The countryside many of us crave and where we want to encourage more people to 
get out and enjoy nature is not natural in the true sense – it is largely man made and 
is maintained as it is by people working the land and the creatures that graze it. As 
such it is proper that they should get some public support in recognition of this 
fact. Support for farmers to maintain walls, gates, stiles and other infrastructure on 
access points to the countryside should be provided where needed but subsidies for 
gates and stiles should only be provided when the landowner can demonstrate a 
need to enclose livestock. Encouragement should be given to remove them, and 
hence the financial burden, in favour of gaps.
 
There is also a widely recognised need to improve and update public access to the 
countryside and subsidies to landowners /occupiers of marginal land should be able 
to assist them whilst at the same time being used to create additions and 
improvements to the public rights of way network. This could involve landowners / 
occupiers being rewarded for creating off-road links to close gaps in the rights of way 
network including those where at present the link is a metalled highway which can no 
longer be used safely. Many such links have been identified by the LLAF and other 
LAFs and are often recognised in local authority Local Transport Plans or Rights of 
Way Improvement Plans.
 
When we use the term targeted it is in the belief that under Stewardship/HLS 
schemes money was given out for access where there was little or no public demand 
or need. By targeted we mean that it should only be on offer where there is a 
demonstrable public benefit from the access being offered with priority being given to 
missing safe links. We also think that funding should be directed towards smaller 
privately owned farms especially on marginal land and not large corporate or 
institutional organisations. Bodies like the National Trust, Wildlife Trusts, Woodland 
Trust or RSPB have other funding sources they could use to create accessible 
routes on their land.
 
We can as a country, be rightly proud of our historic public rights of way network and 
Leicestershire County Council does an excellent job of ensuring it is maintained and 
given adequate signage but there are many gaps making the network dysfunctional. 
This will not improve in a county with strong development pressures unless positive 
action is taken. There is a need for belated public compensation for the loss of the 
links in the network that have occurred with growth in vehicular traffic and many new 

Page 19



roads.  We also feel that where major new disruption is planned compensation 
should be built into the system. Here in Leicestershire we face HS2 cutting many 
longstanding rights of way and the people of Leicestershire will see no benefits from 
this scheme. We are also to see a Strategic Rail Freight Interchange also disturbing 
the network. As a LAF we have made overtures to the HS2 Company to try and get 
agreement to some mitigation measures but we do feel that, somewhat akin to the 
Section 106 planning benefit, there should be a sum of hypothecated money 
provided to improve the rest of the network. This would enable us to pursue some of 
the subsidy suggestions without increased call on the national exchequer.
 
Turning to specific suggestions:

1.      Payment for improvements to the public rights of way network where the 
route in question is deemed of sufficient public benefit by the local Rights of 
Way Authority in consultation with the local LAF.
2.      Preference to be given to routes aiding all non-motorised users (that is, 
pedestrians, cyclists and equestrians) providing higher rights where needed 
and suitable, with priority being given to smaller privately owned farms, hill 
farms in particular.
3.      Payment for maintenance on routes over privately owned land and in 
open access areas i.e. mowing of grass tracks,improving the accessibility of 
and maintenance of walls, gates and stiles and assistance with directional 
signage.
4.      Funding to come from a hypothecated fund part grant aided and to be 
used for no other purpose
5.      Agreements should be better policed than has been the case in the 
past, by improved cross-compliance and simpler regulation. Whenever 
landowners are applying for support under Stewardship, Woodland 
Management or any other public funding grant they must look after the 
environment and provide safe access to the public into any amenity land. We 
do not think the present level of inspection is adequate and would like to see a 
portal where the public can raise concerns for the inspectorate to look into.
6.      Access funds provided previously have not produced best public value, 
partly because of underuse due to a lack of awareness and poor publicity and 
in some cases due to a lack of maintenance, we would suggest that any new 
tracks created should be added to the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way 
so that they will be publicised via OS maps and subject to a well-established 
reporting and inspection system by regular users and highway authority staff. 

 

Page 20



SUGGESTED LETTER FOR MPs TO SEND TO LORD GARDINER RELATING TO 
PERMISSIVE ACCESS IN YOUR LOCALITY

Dear…………..

It has been drawn to my attention by constituents that there is a developing denial of 
public access to certain land in the constituency. --+

The background is that until recently one of the benefits that the public had gained 
was that that there were successive agri-environment schemes such as 
Environmental Stewardship which sometimes included a requirement that some 
stakeholders were required to allow the public i.e. the taxpayer to have some form of 
permissive access to the land which was subject to the scheme. It was and is a 
matter of great concern to the constituent members of this Forum that these 
schemes were no longer to be supported partly because there was to be no EU 
matched funding. As a result there was public access to [describe the land or lands 
and the type of permissive access]

Now as a result of the referendum the EU funding or lack of it will become irrelevant. 
I am aware that the government will be reviewing the help being given to farmers 
and landowners. My purpose in writing to you is to invite you to agree to commit the 
Government to make every possible effort to ensure that in planning for the future of 
agricultural support it will ensure that any package will include a requirement that 
there should be reasonable public access to the land which will benefit from any new 
support package and particularly the land mentioned earlier in this letter.

You will, no doubt, be aware that there are many places where there is quite 
insufficient public access whether for walkers, horse riders or cyclists. Such a 
commitment would give those members of the public greater opportunity to enjoy the 
countryside whether by defined routes or by higher or more rights to roam. 
Successive governments have supported access to the countryside as a great 
benefit to the nation’s physical and mental health.

If the government decides to give support to farmers and landowners it is only 
reasonable and proper that the public should also benefit and on behalf of my 
constituents I ask that you do so.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



CIO’S 

David J Saunders 

Group Development (Training) Officer 

NCVS 

14 March 2017 

P
age 23 A

genda Item
 7



Voluntary and Community 

Sector 

Individual 

Pair 

Three or + 
Charitable 
purpose 

Public 
Benefit 

P
age 24



Voluntary and Community 

Sector 

Individual 

Pair 

Three or + 
Charitable 
purpose 

Public 
Benefit 

P
age 25



Voluntary and Community 

Sector 

Individual 

Pair 

Three or + 
Charitable 
purpose 

Public 
Benefit 

P
age 26



 

P
age 27



 

P
age 28



 

P
age 29



 

P
age 30



Structure 
• Unincorporated association 

• Charitable Association 

 

• Charitable Company 

• Social Enterprises 

 

 

 
 

Could include: 

CLG (By shares or not) 

Community Interest Company 

(CIC) 

Community Benefit Society (IPS) 

Co-operative Society 

Charitable Company 

Limited Liability Partnership 

Income + £5k last 12 months 

ok unless - legal contracts / employ 

P
age 31



Charitable Company 

 

 

P
age 32



Charitable Incorporated Organisation 

(CIO)  

• Only 1 Regulator 

• No need to have minimum income (good for 

new) 

• No fee to register 

• Choice of Constitution  Foundation 

     Association 

• Exists when registered  (40+ working days) 

• Incorporated    Optional contribution 

• No penalties (Company Law) – But… 
 

 

 

P
age 33



Any cons? 

• 40+ days to register 

• No case law 

• New – outside the sector, “What is it?” 

• Can’t change it 

• No charges register 

P
age 34



P
age 35



P
age 36



Q & A 
 

 

David J Saunders 

Group Development (Training) 

NCVS 

davids@nottinghamcvs.co.uk 

 

P
age 37

mailto:davids@nottinghamcvs.co.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Mid Lincolnshire Local Access Forum – 4 April 2017

Bennerley Viaduct Project:

Request for a Letter of Support.

Dear

We are currently seeking funding from Heritage Lottery and other sources to restore 
the magnificent Bennerley Viaduct and bring it back into use as a walking and 
cycling trail. We have had tremendous support for the project from a wide range of 
partner groups and from the local community. We are currently assembling a bid for 
funding and we want to be able to demonstrate that breadth of support for the 
project. We will be submitting our bid in early March 2017

It will be extremely helpful if your organisation / club / society / group could write 
letter of support for this exciting project. It would be helpful if your letter could contain 
the following information.

1. The purpose of your group and an indication of the size of membership.
2. A brief indication of what your group do.
3. The key reasons why your group is supporting the Bennerley Viaduct Project.

Further Information about the Project:  To help you with your letter, I enclose four 
sources of further information. 

1. Factsheet about the Project.  A factsheet about Project and our future vision 
is attached. This may help you with your response. 

2. Factsheet about the Structure. This will give some information on the 
structure of the viaduct. attached

3. Website. Friends of Bennerley Viaduct website
4. Facebook. You will also be able to view some fantastic images of the Viaduct 

on our facebook page. https://www.facebook.com/bennerleyviaduct/  (Don’t 
forget to like our page)

Where and how to send your response. 

By Post.  Ideally, if your group have any headed paper, could you please use that 
for your response but we would  welcome any letter of support from your group. 
Could you post your letter to:

Kieran Lee / Bill Tomson
Sustrans Bennerley Viaduct Project
2 King Street, 
Nottingham 
NG1 2AS

Email  If you are e mailing a response, could you please send your letter to 
kieran.lee@sustrans.org.uk 

Timescale:  It would be most helpful if you could get your response to us by April 30  
2017.

Page 39

Agenda Item 8

https://www.facebook.com/bennerleyviaduct/
mailto:kieran.lee@sustrans.org.uk


With thanks in anticipation of your support. If you want any further information, 
please do not hesitate to get back to me.

Kieran Lee:  Community Engagement and Development Officer.

Bennerley Viaduct Project

Page 40



 

1.   We aim to Restore Bennerley Viaduct 

and bring it back into use as a walking and cycling 
trail. This will give the viaduct a new purpose. 

2.   We will inform, explain and celebrate 

the achievements of our Victorian engineers and 
share our admiration of this magnificent wrought 
iron structure. 

3.  We will ensure that the lifespan of 

Bennerley Viaduct is extended so future 

generations can enjoy it. 

4.   We will connect the viaduct to the area’s trail 

network. The viaduct will become the centrepiece 
of the developing Great Northern Greenway  

connecting both arms of the Erewash Valley 

Trail. 

5.   We will improve access around, on and 

underneath the viaduct so this iconic structure can 
be fully appreciated. 

6.   We will enhance the natural heritage of 

the viaduct area and manage the land to increase 
biodiversity 

7.   We hope to improve the health of the 

local community by providing opportunities to 

walk and cycle in the outdoors. 

8.   We will promote the literary heritage and 

the connections between the area and D.H. 
Lawrence.  

9. We will involve local schools, colleges  and young 

people and developing educational and 

training opportunities using the viaduct as a 

focus. 

10. We will develop people’s skills to improve 

employment prospects. (Heritage restoration skills 
and wildlife/ecological skills.)  

Bennerley Viaduct 

About the Project 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 Bennerley Viaduct is a local and national 

treasure. It is protected by its grade 2* listed status.  

 There is only one other viaduct of its type left 

in the country  (Meldon Viaduct in Devon)  but 
Bennerley is considerably longer. It has been largely 
unaltered since its construction in 1877. 

 The viaduct is over quarter of a mile long 

straddling the Erewash Valley between Ilkeston 
(Derbyshire) and Awsworth (Nottinghamshire).  

 The wrought iron components  for Bennerley were 
prefabricated in Derby by Eastwood and Swingler. 
The parts were transported to Bennerley and 

assembled using cotterpins and over half a 

million rivets.  

 The viaduct was designed by Richard Johnson 

and Samuel Abbott as part of the Great Northern 

Railway’s Derby and Staffordshire Extension (also 
known as the Friargate Line).   

 It was designed to be light and flexible due to 

the unstable ground beneath the viaduct.  It took 
eighteen months to build opening in 1878.    

 The viaduct is not physically attached to the ground.  
It sits on cast iron baseplates which rest on brick 

piers. It is held in place by gravity. 

 The viaduct was built to carry coal but it also carried 
other goods and passengers. The last passenger 
train crossed in 1964.  The last goods train crossed in 
1968.  The line closed following the Beeching Report  

after 90 years of use. 

 The viaduct survived bombing by Zeppelins in 

January 1916. Sadly, the nearby signal box was not 
as fortunate. 

 British Rail attempted to demolish the viaduct but 

were thwarted by local people, councils and 

special interest groups who considered the viaduct 

was an invaluable part of our industrial and 

railway heritage. 

Bennerley Viaduct 

About the  Structure 

Images of  

Bennerley Viaduct. 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



B
en

n
erley’s H

eritage 
Valu

e p
u

ts it in
 th

e top
 

8%
 of listed

 stru
ctu

res 
in

 E
n

g
lan

d
.

T
h

e 
Su

rv
iv

or
F

in
d

 O
u

t M
or

e

B
uilt betw

een M
ay 1876 and N

ovem
ber 1877 to carry 

the G
reat N

orthern R
ailw

ay’s line over the E
rew

ash 
Valley, B

ennerley V
iaduct has great heritage value. It is 

an outstanding exam
ple of the railw

ay architecture of the 
tim

e surviving in an alm
ost unaltered state. It is also one of 

only tw
o w

rought iron viaducts left in E
ngland. The other 

is M
eldon V

iaduct in D
evon, how

ever B
ennerley is m

uch 
longer. B

ecause of its im
portance and to help protect it, 

it has been given G
rade II* listed status since 1974 w

hich 
puts it in the top 8%

 of listed structures in E
ngland. It 

spans the E
rew

ash Valley for 440 m
etres (approxim

ately  
¼

 m
ile) w

ith its deck standing 18 m
etres (60 feet) above 

the valley floor.

L
ocation

B
ennerley V

iad
uct sp

ans the N
o

tting
ham

shire/
D

erbyshire border betw
een A

w
sw

orth and C
otm

anhay

r
e
d
i
s
c
o
v
e
r
i
n
g

T
H

E
  I

R
O

N
 G

IA
N

T
  O

F
 

T
H

E
 E

R
E

W
A

SH
 V

A
L

L
E

Y

B
en

n
er

le
y

V
ia

d
u

ct

S
us

tr
an

s 
is

 th
e 

su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

tr
an

sp
or

t c
ha

rit
y 

th
at

’s
 e

na
bl

in
g 

pe
op

le
 to

 tr
av

el
 b

y 
fo

ot
, b

ik
e 

or
 p

ub
lic

 tr
an

sp
or

t f
or

 m
or

e 
of

 th
e 

jo
ur

ne
ys

 w
e 

m
ak

e 
ev

er
y 

da
y 

an
d 

th
e 

ch
ar

ity
 b

eh
in

d 
th

e 
N

at
io

na
l C

yc
le

 N
et

w
or

k.
 F

in
d 

ou
t m

or
e 

ab
ou

t S
us

tra
ns

 
he

re
: w

w
w

.s
u

st
ra

n
s.

or
g.

u
k

Fi
nd

 o
ut

 m
or

e 
ab

ou
t S

us
tr

an
s 

an
d 

th
e 

pr
og

re
ss

 o
n 

co
ns

er
vi

ng
 B

en
ne

rle
y 

V
ia

du
ct

 a
nd

 b
rin

gi
ng

 it
 in

to
 u

se
 a

s 
a 

w
al

ki
ng

 a
nd

 c
yc

lin
g 

ro
ut

e:

P
ho

ne
 S

us
tr

an
s 

o
n:

 0
11

5 
85

3 
29

53
W

eb
: w

w
w

.s
us

tr
an

s.
o

rg
.u

k
E

m
ai

l: 
M

id
la

nd
sa

nd
E

as
t@

su
st

ra
ns

.o
rg

.u
k

W
eb

: w
w

w
.b

en
ne

rl
ey

vi
ad

uc
t.

o
rg

.u
k

F
ac

eb
o

o
k:

 B
en

ne
rl

ey
 V

ia
d

uc
t 

F
ri

en
d

s 
G

ro
up

F
u

tu
re P

lan
s

The viaduct cam
e into the ow

nership of S
ustrans, the 

sustainable transport charity, in 1998 as part of a deal 
to convert 200 m

iles of disused railw
ays into cycling 

and w
alking paths. W

orking w
ith com

m
unities and 

partner organisations, S
ustrans w

ants B
ennerley V

iaduct 
conserved and brought into public use by building a path 
across it. It w

ill connect w
ith a netw

ork of routes including 
the E

rew
ash Valley Trail and w

ill be a key link in the route 
betw

een N
ottingham

 &
 D

erby.

E
rew

ash Valley Trail 

B
roxtow

e C
ountry Trail

B
roxtow

e C
ountry Trail (on road

 sections)

B
roxtow

e C
ountry Trail links

N
utb

rook Trail

R
ivers and

 C
anals

 
   

 D
is

co
ve

r 
th

is
 m

ag
ni

fi
ce

nt
 

w
ro

ug
ht

 ir
on

 r
ai

lw
ay

 v
ia

du
ct

 a
nd

 
a 

w
ea

lt
h 

of
 h

er
it

ag
e 

in
 th

is
 c

or
ne

r 
of

 D
H

 L
aw

re
nc

e 
co

un
tr

y

B
en

ne
rle

y 
al

so
 s

ur
vi

ve
d 

a 
Ze

pp
el

in
 ra

id
. 

O
n 

M
on

da
y 

31
 J

an
ua

ry
 1

91
6 

a 
fle

et
 o

f 9
 

ai
rs

hi
ps

, w
ith

 L
iv

er
po

ol
 a

nd
 M

an
ch

es
te

r 
as

 th
ei

r t
ar

ge
ts

, c
ro

ss
ed

 th
e 

N
or

th
 S

ea
. 

D
ue

 to
 b

ad
 w

ea
th

er
, b

as
ic

 n
av

ig
at

io
n 

an
d 

m
ec

ha
ni

ca
l p

ro
bl

em
s 

so
m

e 
of

 th
e 

ai
rs

hi
ps

 
be

ca
m

e 
lo

st
 o

r t
ur

ne
d 

ba
ck

. 

O
ne

 o
f t

he
 a

irs
hi

ps
, t

he
 L

20
 c

ap
ta

in
ed

 b
y 

K
ap

ita
nl

eu
tn

an
t 

Fr
an

z 
S

ta
bb

er
t, 

it 
is

 th
ou

gh
t, 

w
as

 a
ttr

ac
te

d 
to

 th
e 

gl
ow

 
co

m
in

g 
fro

m
 B

en
ne

rle
y 

Iro
nw

or
ks

 a
nd

 a
t 8

.2
0 

pm
 lo

om
ed

 
ov

er
 th

e 
Er

ew
as

h 
Va

lle
y.

 H
er

e 
se

ve
ra

l h
ig

h 
ex

pl
os

iv
e 

bo
m

bs
 

w
er

e 
dr

op
pe

d 
w

ith
 o

ne
 n

ar
ro

w
ly

 m
is

si
ng

 th
e 

vi
ad

uc
t. 

Th
e 

bo
m

b 
fe

ll 
on

to
 th

e 
ra

ilw
ay

 b
el

ow
 d

am
ag

in
g 

th
e 

lin
e 

an
d 

de
st

ro
yi

ng
 th

e 
si

gn
al

 
bo

x.
 T

he
 L

20
 th

en
 

he
ad

ed
 to

w
ar

ds
 S

ta
nt

on
 

Iro
nw

or
ks

 w
he

re
 it

 
dr

op
pe

d 
15

 m
or

e 
bo

m
bs

. 
Tw

o 
m

en
 w

er
e 

ki
lle

d 
by

 
th

e 
ra

id
: J

am
es

 H
al

l a
nd

 
W

al
te

r W
ils

on
.

B
en

ne
rle

y 
Vi

ad
uc

t i
s 

a 
re

m
ar

ka
bl

e 
su

rv
iv

or
. A

pa
rt 

fro
m

 
M

el
do

n 
Vi

ad
uc

t, 
al

l o
th

er
 w

ro
ug

ht
 ir

on
 v

ia
du

ct
s 

in
 E

ng
la

nd
 

ha
ve

 g
on

e.
 M

os
t w

er
e 

de
m

ol
is

he
d 

af
te

r t
he

 li
ne

s 
th

ey
 c

ar
rie

d 
w

er
e 

cl
os

ed
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

B
ee

ch
in

g 
re

po
rt.

 F
or

tu
na

te
ly

 th
e 

fir
st

 d
em

ol
iti

on
 a

tte
m

pt
 o

f B
en

ne
rle

y 
Vi

ad
uc

t f
ai

le
d 

be
ca

us
e 

th
e 

co
st

s 
w

er
e 

to
o 

hi
gh

. I
n 

19
74

 it
s 

he
rit

ag
e 

va
lu

e 
w

as
 

re
co

gn
is

ed
 b

y 
En

gl
is

h 
H

er
ita

ge
 w

ho
 li

st
ed

 it
 a

s 
G

ra
de

 II
* 

af
fo

rd
in

g 
it 

so
m

e 
pr

ot
ec

tio
n.

 T
he

 s
ec

on
d 

at
te

m
pt

 to
 d

em
ol

is
h 

it 
st

ar
te

d 
in

 1
97

5 
w

he
n 

B
rit

is
h 

R
ai

l a
pp

lie
d 

fo
r p

er
m

is
si

on
, b

ut
 

B
ro

xt
ow

e 
an

d 
Er

ew
as

h 
B

or
ou

gh
 C

ou
nc

ils
 re

fu
se

d.
 In

 1
98

0 
a 

P
ub

lic
 In

qu
iry

 w
as

 h
el

d 
an

d 
be

ca
us

e 
of

 lo
ca

l d
em

an
d 

to
 k

ee
p 

it,
 d

em
ol

iti
on

 w
as

 h
el

d 
of

f. 
A

 B
en

ne
rle

y 
Vi

ad
uc

t P
re

se
rv

at
io

n 
Tr

us
t w

as
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
an

d 
pl

an
s 

to
 re

-o
pe

n 
B

en
ne

rle
y 

Vi
ad

uc
t a

s 
a 

cy
cl

ew
ay

 w
er

e 
pu

t f
or

w
ar

d.
 

Z
ep

p
el

in
 A

tt
ac

k
!T

h
e  B

en
n

erley 
V

iad
u

ct Story
The M

idland Railw
ay C

om
pany w

hich form
ed in 1844 had 

a m
onopoly of trade com

ing into D
erby and sole access to 

the thriving collieries of the Erew
ash Valley. C

olliery ow
ners, 

businessm
en from

 D
erby and directors of the G

reat N
orthern 

Railw
ay C

om
pany w

ere keen to break the M
idland’s stranglehold 

on trade and they w
ere successful in securing perm

ission from
 

Parliam
ent to construct a new

 line from
 Staffordshire to N

ottingham
 

via D
erby. This ‘Friargate’ line nam

ed after its D
erby station w

as 
challenging to build as the natural routes follow

ing river valleys had 
been taken up by the M

idland. O
ne of the engineering challenges 

w
as to take the line across the Erew

ash Valley and over the 
M

idland’s Railw
ay, the River Erew

ash and the N
ottingham

 and 
Erew

ash C
anals. To do this Bennerley Viaduct w

as designed.

D
ue to extensive m

ining in the area the G
reat N

orthern Railw
ay’s 

designers needed a design for Bennerley Viaduct w
hich w

ould 
avoid the problem

s of unstable ground. Resident Engineer Sam
uel 

Abbott and C
hief Engineer Richard Johnson cam

e up w
ith a 

w
rought iron latticew

ork design that w
as light in w

eight and could 
be built quickly and cheaply. 

The ironw
ork w

as prefabricated by Eastw
ood, Sw

ingler & C
o. of 

D
erby and then assem

bled on site by the railw
ay construction firm

, 
Benton and W

oodiw
iss, the m

etalw
ork held together by rivets and 

cotter pins. C
onstruction w

as com
pleted by N

ovem
ber 1877 and  

the viaduct opened early in 1878.

The line w
as very profitable and extensions w

ere built into the 
heart of the coalfield. A fam

iliar sight on the viaduct w
as steam

 
locom

otives hauling coal w
agons from

 the nearby collieries. The 
line also m

eant that Skegness becam
e the locals’ seaside resort, 

reachable on day trips from
 Ilkeston.

In 1948, the railw
ays w

ere nationalised. In 1963, follow
ing a report 

by D
r Beeching, the governm

ent m
ade plans to close thousands 

of m
iles of railw

ay lines and over 2000 stations. The Friargate Line 
w

as closed w
ith the last passenger train crossing the viaduct in 

1964 and the last goods train in 1968.

W
alking

 &
 C

ycling
A

 great w
ay to get to the B

ennerley area is by bike or on 
foot along the m

any paths and trails. C
anals pass close 

by both ends of the viaduct and the Erew
ash Valley Trail 

follow
s these for m

uch of its route. This beautiful 30 m
ile 

largely traffic-free circular trail has m
ultiple access points. 

Visit: w
w

w
.erew

ashvalleytrail.co.uk for inform
ation. 

R
ail links

Langley M
ill is the closest train station from

 w
here it’s a 

pleasant 3m
iles\5km

 ride south along the Erew
ash C

anal 
to the B

ennerley area. 

Long Eaton train station lies 8m
iles/13km

 to the south 
from

 w
here it’s an excellent ride north along the canal to 

B
ennerley.

Visit: w
w

w
.nationalrail.co.uk for train tim

es

A
 N

E
W

 S
TATIO

N
 IS

 C
U

R
R

E
N

TLY
 B

E
IN

G
 B

U
ILT FO

R
 

ILK
E

S
TO

N
. O

nce com
p

leted
 it w

ill b
e a short b

ike 
rid

e or w
alk to B

ennerley.

B
us links

From
 N

ottingham
 catch Trent B

arton’s ‘The Tw
o’ to 

B
ridge S

treet, C
otm

anhay from
 w

here it is a short w
alk 

to the Erew
ash C

anal. Visit: w
w

w
.trentb

arton.co.uk/
services/tw

o for bus tim
es.

From
 D

erb
y catch Trent B

arton’s ‘Ilkeston Flyer’ to 
B

ridge S
treet, C

otm
anhay from

 w
here it is a short w

alk 
to the Erew

ash C
anal. Visit: w

w
w

.trentb
arton.co.uk/

services/Ilkestonflyer for bus tim
es.

B
en

ne
rle

y 
V

ia
d

uc
t:

 IS
S

U
E

 O
N

E

D
E

R
B

Y
S

H
IR

E

N
O

T
T

IN
G

H
A

M
S

H
IR

E

M
1

M
1

M
1

M
1

M
1

M
1

C
o

ssall

B
ram

co
te

Tro
w

ell

M
ap

p
erley

K
irk

H
allam

D
ale

A
b

b
ey

N
ew

S
tanto

nS
tanto

n
G

ate
Lento

n
A

b
b

ey

W
o

llato
n

B
eachd

ale

C
ind

erhill

A
sp

ley

B
ro

xto
w

e

B
ilb

o
ro

ug
h

S
trelley

S
tanto

n-b
y-D

ale

R
isley

B
reasto

n

D
rayco

tt

Little
H

allam

W
est

H
allam

S
hip

ley

A
ld

ercar

N
ew

tho
rp

e

G
iltb

ro
o

k
W

atnall

G
reasley

M
o

o
rg

reen

LO
N

G
E

A
T

O
N

H
E

A
N

O
R

A
w

sw
o

rth
C

o
tm

anhay

LA
N

G
LE

Y
M

ILL
E

A
S

T
W

O
O

D

K
IM

B
E

R
LE

Y

ILK
E

S
T

O
N

S
TA

P
LE

FO
R

D
B

E
E

S
T

O
N

S
hip

ley
P

ark

Scale:
M

ile
Kilom

etre

B
ennerley 
V

iad
uct

P
ho

to
 b

y 
S

te
ve

 C
ol

e

DH  LAW

REN
C

E 
 C

OUNTRY

WELC
O

M
E 

 TO

P
age 45



Nottingham Canal

Paths & Trails

Erewash Canal

Opened in 1796 the Nottingham Canal met the Erewash 
Canal and the Cromford Canal in Langley Mill. Driven out 
of business by the railways it closed to traffic in 1937 and 
only short sections are still in water. North of Newton’s Lane, 
much of the canal was lost to opencast coal mining in the 

1980’s; however, the stretch 
by Bennerley Viaduct was 
reinstated on the original 
course. 
Today the Nottingham Canal 
is a haven for wildlife and has 
Local Nature Reserve status.

The Erewash Valley is great for 
walking and cycling. 
The map shows public paths and 
trails around Bennerley Viaduct 
including part of the Erewash 
Valley Trail - a 30 mile circular trail 
along both sides of the Erewash 
Valley and following the canals 
most of the way. 
Visit www.erewashvalleytrail.
co.uk for information. 
Please drop your pace when 
cycling on canal towpaths.

Running for 11¾ miles between the River Trent and Langley 
Mill, the Erewash Canal was completed in 1779, built largely 
to transport coal from the Erewash Valley pits. 

More commercially successful 
than the Nottingham Canal it 
was never taken over by the 
railways. 
Managed today by the Canal 
and River Trust, it is still open 
to boats for its whole length 
and connects to the inland 
waterway network.

Bennerley Viaduct forms a grand centrepiece to a part of 
the Erewash Valley rich in industrial and natural heritage

Wildlife
A rich variety of wildlife habitats are found around Bennerley 
Viaduct with the whole valley forming an important wildlife 
corridor. Plant life includes several orchid species while 
animal life includes grass snake, great 
crested newt and water vole. In the river 
white-clawed crayfish and otter have 
been spotted while kingfishers breed in 
the banks. Barn owls are frequently seen 
on the viaduct, their presence indicating a 
rich supply of smaller animals in the area. 
Bats fly around the viaduct in the warmer 
months in the late evening, feeding on the 
rich supply of insects.

Sedge Warbler Photographer: Paul Shaw.

Bennerley Viaduct early 1877 to late 1878 showing contractor’s temporary 

railway in foreground.   Image courtesy of www.picturethepast.org.uk

rediscovering

THE  IRON GIANT  OF THE EREWASH VALLEY L
IST

ED   S T RU CTU
R

E

    

G
RADE TWO

GRADE

DH Lawrence knew the area well. He refers to the rattle of 
trains going over Bennerley Viaduct and the glow of the 
ironworks which lay immediately to its north. 
His fiancée lived in nearby Cossall so he would have 
walked from his home in 
Eastwood around this part of 
the valley.

DH Lawrence Country

NEWTON’S LANE

AW
SW

O
R

TH
 R

O
AD

VIA
DUCT

BENNERLEY

S
H

I L
O

 W
A

Y

E
R

E
W

A
S

H
 C

A
N

A
L

R
IV

E
R

 E
R

E
W

A
S

H

R
IVER

ER
EW

A
S

H

RIV
ER E

REW
ASH

E
R

E
W

A
S

H
 C

A
N

A
L

ER
EW

ASH
 C

AN
AL

N
O

T
T

IN
G

H
A

M
 C

A
N

A
L

NEWTON’S LANE

E
R

E
W

A
S

H
  VA

LLE
Y

  R
A

ILW
A

Y
  LIN

E

SUGGESTED 
ACCESS POINT

SUGGESTED 
ACCESS POINT

VIADUCT 
VIEWING

POINT

SUGGESTED 
ACCESS POINT

The 
Bridge Inn

FOOTBRIDGE 
CURRENTLY 

CLOSED 
(2016/17)

ROADSIDE 
PAVEMENT

ACCESS 
UNDERNEATH 
BENNERLEY 

VIADUCT

DH Lawrence museum in Eastwood.

The former Great Northern Railway bridge over the Nottingham Canal. 
Photo courtesy of Michael Golds

Erewash Valley Railway
The railway line that runs under Bennerley Viaduct today 
was originally built by the Erewash Valley Railway Company 
to compete with the canals in carrying valuable coal traffic. 
Opening in 1847 it soon became profitable and was quickly 

absorbed into the Midland 
Railway Company. 
The Great Northern Railway 
which Bennerley Viaduct was 
constructed for was built to 
compete with The Midland 
Railway for this lucrative 
trade. 

KEY:

Bus Stops

Other public paths and 
trails around Bennerley 
Viaduct

Erewash Valley Trail

Common Blue Butterfly
Photographer: Paul Shaw.

Scale: Mile

Kilometre

Barn Owl
Photographer: Paul Shaw.

Water Vole
Photographer: Richard Pitman.

D
H

  LAW

RENCE  C

OU
N

T
R

Y

W

ELCOME  TO

River Erewash & floodplain
The River Erewash gives its name to the valley and forms the 
county boundary between Nottinghamshire and Derbyshire 
for much of its course between Kirkby-in-Ashfield and the 

River Trent.  
It flows south 
under Bennerley 
Viaduct into an 
area that seasonally 
floods providing an 
important site for 
wetland birds. 

View south from the viaduct showing the River 
Erewash and its floodplain.

P
age 46



Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



Mid-Lincolnshire Local Access Forum – 4 April 2017

COUNTRYSIDE FOR ALL – Report

1. COUNTRYSIDE FOR ALL ROUTES
1.1. Lincolnshire

We were hoping to have had the 5 route leaflet details with the designer/printer early 
February. Unfortunately due to ownership issues in relation to the track joining the 
Grantham Canal we have still not been able to send the details to the printers. We 
are still trying to find a solution to this issue. If this is not resolved by the end of 
March we will look at producing a route leaflet for the  Woodhall Spa airfield instead.

Verbal update to be provided at the meetings

We are still investigating the lack of car park signage on the Water Rail Way at 
Southrey and Stixwould.

The Woodland Trust has borrowed the Lincolnshire County Council inclinometers for 
a course. We have learnt that the course is to standardise the Woodland Trust 
access definitions countrywide e.g. easy, moderate. The Woodland Trust has 
expressed an interest in 10 people attending the Inclusive Countryside Access 
course which we aim to hold. At the first course we funded back in March 2015 we 
had 3 of their employees on the course. One of the key issues the course delivers 
training on, is that route descriptions should provide factual information and not 
subjective judgements. We have mentioned we are concerned about the definitions 
they are using to promote countryside routes and have asked for a meeting with their 
CEO and senior managers to discuss the issue.

1.2. Rutland 

The Rutland Countryside For All folder has been funded by Rutland County Council. 
We are very fortunate to have the photos of the views on the folder from Richard 
Adams, a local Rutland photographer.

We have requested a meeting with the Woodland Trust to discuss suitable 
Countryside For All routes on their land.

After discussions with the Yew Tree Avenue Trust, we have decided to wait until the 
outcome of discussions between the Trust and the Forestry Commission are known,  
before pursuing the improvements from the car park to the Avenue  and the 
Countryside For All leaflet.

2. DEMENTIA FRIENDLY WALKS

2.1. Lincolnshire

This information is displayed in item 6

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



2.2. Rutland

The next Dementia Friendly Strolls Walk Leader course is planned for April and will 
be held at the Lodge Trust. If anyone wants to become a walk leader or assist in 
these strolls they need to contact Danielle Adams, DAdams@rutland.gov.uk  .The 
trainers travel expense for this course will be funded by Active Rutland.

3.  CHOICE UNLIMITED EVENT

3.1 Rutland

We are aiming to attract more representatives from different disability groups to join 
the working group. This will ease the workload on the current work group members. 
We are still getting good feedback from visitors to the event, even after 5 months! 
The Rutland County Council has kindly funded our table at the Leicester Choice 
Unlimited event which will be held at Leicester Tigers 26th April. All are invited, the 
Local Access Forums will have 3 six foot by two foot tables at this event, so it should 
be a pretty impressive stand. Hopefully that will aid the visitors to be attracted to our 
stand.

3.2  Lincolnshire

We have been looking at localities which we think will benefit most from a Choice 
Unlimited event, which has suitable facilities outside Lincoln. South Holland with its 
ageing population and its health issues seems a suitable area. Spalding with a 
population of approximately 29,000 looks a good sized catchment area. A suitable 
venue for the event, maybe the Springfield Event Centre. We are keen to involve 
Lincolnshire Sports, as we feel the Choice Unlimited event will prove an ideal 
showcase for them to promote sports for the disabled. If Lincolnshire Sports chooses 
not to be involved, we will be using our contacts with other disability sports 
organisations. We are looking for working partners to join the working group to 
enable an event to be held in 2018. The reason the LAF Countryside for All sub 
group need this event to happen is to promote countryside activities for the disabled 
including walking, wheelchair/mobility scooter  routes, cycling, horse riding and 
carriage driving. The Lincolnshire County Council have a lot to gain from this event. 
Both Social Services and education for children with disabilities would benefit. 
Assistance is required in identifying suitable County Council contacts to assist on the 
working group to make the event happen. We are working with Lincolnshire CVS to 
identify representatives of disability groups to help on the working group. 

Action: All – Identify suitable County Council contacts

Page 52

mailto:DAdams@rutland.gov.uk


4. FUNDING BIDS

4.1. I-Spy In the Countryside

We are looking for £410 to order 300 booklets to give out to children with disabilities 
at the Choice Unlimited events, to encourage them and their parents to explore the 
countryside. We are currently waiting for a response from Severn Trent Water. The 
Leicester City Football Club will be the next organisation we will contact if we do not 
get the response we require from Severn Trent.  

4.2.  Nineveh Charitable Trust

A further funding application is going to be submitted to Nineveh. This funding 
application will be for Lincolnshire Countryside For All folders, one Countryside for 
All route leaflet and an Inclusive Countryside Access Course.

4.3. Chapel Six Marshes 

Although the route surface improvements have been priced, we are also working 
with LCC to identify how we can improve the interest on the site. As soon as this has 
been established and priced we will apply to the East Coast Community Fund for 
finance. 

4.4. Ashing Lane Nature Reserve

A key player in the discussions to the car park improvement and extension of the all 
ability path is currently working abroad. On their return we will be arranging a 
meeting with the Nettleham Woodland Trust and the Lincolnshire Wildlife Trust.

4.5. Chambers Farm Wood

We are working with the Forestry Commission to see how we can extend the all 
ability trail and improve the current route.

4.6. Lincolnshire Health Related Walks from April 2017”. 

Progress on that issue is displayed in item 7.

4.7. Further Countryside For All leaflets

With the current workload it has been decided to wait until 2018 to see whether we 
will produce further leaflets in 2018.

4.8. Coastal Country Park

Over the next few months we will be examining how we can improve access for the 
disabled in the coastal country park.

Page 53



5. ACCESSIBILITY AMBASSADORS

The Choice Unlimited events in Leicester April 26th and the Rutland event in the 
Autumn will be used to gauge the level of interest in this role. 

6. LINCOLNSHIRE HEALTH RELATED WALKS FROM APRIL 2017

We have not had any success in securing funding. Our aim now is to investigate the 
opportunities of sourcing funding for a day per week in each of the districts and the 
City for a coordinator to grow dementia friendly strolls.

7. SENSORY TRAILS AND GREEN SPACES

Due to workload this project has not progressed any further.

8. DISABILITY SUB GROUP CHANGE OF NAME & LOGO

We are now using “Countryside For All” as our name. We are still trying to find time 
to create a logo. We are keen to see the new LAF logos, if we get agreement early 
enough we will be able to get them printed on our five new route leaflets.

Action: Chris – Please circulate when the new logo is available.

9. GRUFFALO SPOTTERS TRAIL

The Gruffalo spotters trail has been introduced by the Forestry Commission into a 
number of forests/woods countrywide. It is a downloadable app, for downloading at 
home. This enables clues to be followed along an interactive trail. Unfortunately 
there are not any trails in Lincolnshire and Rutland. We have asked the Forestry 
Commission if we can work with them to see how we can get these in place with our 
Countryside For All routes in Chambers Farm Wood, Willingham Woods and Bourne 
Woods.

Page 54



$ng41ikdq.xls

North East Lincolnshire ROWIP Objectives
NELC ROWIP
Key Action Project Details Comments Update

KA08, KA11 &
KA13

Safer Road Crossings Joint partnership project with road safety team
to improve exit points onto busy A road and
installation of information promotional boards.  

Closure of FP 21 at Stallingborough and there are other PRoW which are being
looked at to be diverted to make crossings safer, such as a number that cross
the A18.

KA5,KA9, KA11
& KA13

Strategic Urban Path
Improvement Plan 

Project  to deliver surface upgrades to existing
well used paths in the urban area.  

Path surface improvements to Stallingborough FP21. East Ravendale BW168 to
be addressed in due course.

KA01 & KA03 Reinstatement of FP72 Ongoing legal issues to determine accurate
line of FP72 requiring amendment to Definitive
Map and reinstatment of path on the ground. 

Line of the path curerently being reinstated, may be open in April, but a dead end
route.

KA1, KA2, KA3
& KA4

Definitive Map Issues Address legal deficiencies with a view to
eventually producing an up to date
Consolidation Map.

Process to produce new Consolidated Definitive Map for the North East
Lincolnshire area is currently underway. Current Definitive Map has a relevant
date of June 1953. 

Research is currently on going.
KA4 & KA5 Policy Development Produce & develop policies under which the

Authority will deal with specific issues.
 'Gaps, gates and stiles' protocol has now been approved and adopted to
address unnecessary limitations upon the network and formalise the application
process for landowners for new furniture.

KA6 Crime prevention A number of land owners have recently
commented that poachers / lampers have
been using the Public Bridleways to gain entry
to land to shoot anything that moves.  Also
motorbikes using the Bridleways to ride
motorbikes.

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

   
 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills - Executive Director for Environment 
& Economy 

 

Report to: Mid Lincolnshire Local Access Forum 

Date: 4 April 2017 

Subject: Definitive Map Modification Orders - Ongoing 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

A report on the progress of Definitive Map Modification Order Currently being 
undertaken 
 

 

Recommendation(s): 

That the report is noted and formal written advice provided as required. 
 

 
1. Background 
 

As Surveying Authority the County Council has a statutory duty to keep under 
continuous review the Definitive Rights of Way Map and Statement for Lincolnshire 
and to make orders to take account of events requiring the map to be modified. 
This is carried out by the processing of Definitive Map Modification Orders 
(DMMOs) which are either applied for by the public or initiated by the Authority on 
the discovery of evidence. 
 
Highways & Traffic Guidance Note HAT33/3/11 sets out that such cases will be 
dealt with in order of receipt/initiation unless one or more of the eight “exception 
criteria” apply. 
 
The criteria are as follows: 
 

1. Where there is sustained aggression, hostility and ill feeling within a 
community that is causing severe disruption to the life of that 
community, and that in processing the case early there is a strong 
likelihood that this will reduce. 

 
2. Where there is a significant threat to the route, likely to cause a 

permanent obstruction (e.g. a building, but not, for example, a locked 
gate or residential fencing). 

 
3. Where there is, or has been, a finding of maladministration by the 

Local Government Ombudsman on a particular case and that in 

Page 57

Agenda Item 11



 

processing the case the County Council will discharge its duty to the 
Ombudsman’s decision. 

 
4. Where legal proceedings against the County Council are instigated or 

are likely to be instigated and it is possible that the Authority has a 
liability. 

 
5. Where there is a risk to children on County Council owned property 

and land or where the claimed route would provide for a safer 
alternative route to a school, play area or other amenity for children. 

 
6. Where there is a significant financial saving to the County Council (and 

therefore taxpayers) through the processing of an Order. 
 
7. Where a new application is received that relies on evidence of a case 

already received or, if the new application forms part of or is adjoining 
to an existing claim, the new claim will be dealt with at the same time 
as the older application. 

 
8. Where the route will significantly assist in achieving a Countryside and 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan Objective or Statement of Action. 
 
The above numbered exception criteria do not cover every eventuality and it is 
recognised that in exceptional circumstances there may be other reasons why it 
would benefit the public for a case to be considered out of normal order. 
Officers will not prioritise any case under such circumstances and any appeal 
will only be considered by the Definitive Map & Statement of Public Rights of 
Way Sub-Committee. 
 
Initially the priority of a case is set by Officers however there is a right of appeal for 
any affected persons whereby a decision is made by the Definitive Map & 
Statement of Public Rights of Way Sub-Committee. 
 
Appendix A provides an outline of the position of cases currently deemed to be 
"active" within the prioritisation policy. 

 
 

2. Consultation 

 
a)  Scrutiny Comments 

n/a 

   

b)  Executive Councillor Comments 
n/a 

   

c)  Local Member Comments 
n/a 

Page 58



 

   

d)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

 n/a 

 
 

3. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Outline summaries of "active" modification order cases as at 15th 
March 2017 

Appendix B Appeals against prioritisation – Q4 2016-17 (None this period) 

Appendix C Definitive Map Case Prioritisation (LINK) – Paper copies available 
on request 

 
 

4. Background papers 
 

The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 were 
relied upon in the writing of this report. 
 

Highways & Traffic Guidance Note 33 – Prioritisation of Definitive Map Modification 
Orders - HAT 33/3/11 

 
This report was written by Catherine Beeby, Senior Definitive Map Officer, who can be 
contacted on 01522 782070 or countryside_access@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

Page 59

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/countryside/definitive-map/definitive-map-modification-orders-dmmos/
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/george/s?Directorates.Development_Services.Information_for_Working.Highways_and_Traffic_Guidance_Notes_HATs.HATs_3140.Appendix_A__Guide_to_Designing_Traffic_Sign_Installations_in_Lincolnshire&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=http://george/upload/private/attachments/822/HAT_33209.pdf


APPENDIX A - Outline Summaries of "active" modification order cases  

 

 

PARISH 
CASE 

No. 
 CASE TITLE 

FORMAL 
APP? 

Date UPDATE 

North Ormsby 379 PF  

Alleged PF between 
north end of PF 357 
and highway in centre 
of North Ormsby 

Yes 14/11/2014 
DMMO seeking to record a PF made 
25.01.2017.  Objection period to 23/03/2017. 
No objections received at 15/03/2017. 

Hogsthorpe 49 PF 
Sea Lane to Maiden 
Lane 

Yes 11/12/1986 Reviewing evidence. 

Castle Bytham 136 RB 
Reclassification of RB 
3 

No 03/08/19 
To be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate 
– currently with Legal Services for review. 

Ancaster 2 RB 
Regrade from RB to 
BOAT 

Yes 13/11/1991 Reviewing evidence. 

Coningsby 182 PF 
School Lane to 
Dogdyke Road 

Yes 06/11/1997 
Ready for submission to Planning 
Inspectorate. 

Colsterworth/ 
Gunby & Stainby 

259 PF  
Realignment of 
Colsterworth PF 14 &  
part of Stainby PF 1 

No 19/05/2004 
DMMO confirmed by Planning Inspectorate 
22/02/2017. 

Tetford 365 PF 
Addition of "missing 
link" North Road to PF 
33 

No 30/09/2013 Reviewing evidence. 

Long 
Bennington/Wes
tborough and 
Dry Doddington 

377 PF 

Alleged PF 
Westborough Lane-
bridge on Church St. 
along east bank of 
River Witham.  Also 
access to route from 
Winters Lane & 
Sparrow Lane 

Yes 19/09/2014 

Schedule 14 Appeal of decision not to make 
an Order made to Planning Inspectorate.  
Council's Statement on Appeal to be sent to 
Planning Inspectorate 16/03/2017. 

Ludborough 378 PF 
Alleged PF along track 
running to and from 
PF 107 

Yes 06/10/2014 Reviewing evidence. 

Navenby 384 PB 
Alleged PB Grantham 
Road-Doncaster 
Gardens 

Yes 16/04/2015 

Council directed to make a DMMO seeking 
to record a PF along the Application route 
following the submission of additional 
evidence with Schedule 14 Appeal. 

South 
Willingham 

97 PF 
Hainton Road-High 
Street 

Yes 30/04/1986 

DMMOs with Planning Inspectorate for 
determination by written representations 
procedure – last date for Council comments 
was 08/03/2017. 

South 
Willingham 

98 PF Moors Lane to A157 Yes 30/04/1986 As above. 

South 
Willingham  

99 PF 
Moors Lane to Poplar 
Farm 

Yes 30/04/1986 As above. 

Woodhall Spa  193 PF 
Mill Lane to river 
Witham 

Yes 12/05/1998 
Public inquiry 22/02/2017: awaiting Planning 
Inspectorate decision. 

Heydour 48 PF PF to be diverted No 01/01/1985 Reviewing evidence. 

Aunsby & 
Dembleby 

5  

Aunsby RB 6 plus 
section to Manor 
House Farm, Aunsby 
PB 9, Heydour RB 18 

No 11/07/1985 Reviewing evidence. 

Mablethorpe & 
Sutton  

106 PF 
High Street to 
Broadway 

Yes 16/09/1985 Reviewing evidence. 

Grimoldby 43 PF From Mill Lane Yes 23/10/1985 Writing Statement of Grounds. 

Burgh-le-Marsh 18 PF Faulkers Lane Yes 10/02/1987 Statement of Grounds almost complete. 

Stamford 101 PF 
Cherry Holt Lane to 
Priory Road 

Yes 03/04/1987 Reviewing evidence. 

Page 60



APPENDIX A - Outline Summaries of "active" modification order cases  

 

BOAT – Byway Open to All Traffic 
RB – Restricted Byway 
PB – Public Bridleway 
PF – Public Footpath 
 
 

 Total Number of cases (Formal application or Self-initiated) – 148 outstanding 
inclusive of those awaiting determination by the Secretary of State (5 including 
1 Schedule 14 Appeal) at 15th March 2017 

Page 61



Appendix C – Outstanding Modification Order Cases 

 

Appendix B - No DMMO prioritisation appeals were submitted or heard over the period since the last forum meeting. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

P
age 62



Appendix C – Outstanding Modification Order Cases 

 

 
 

 

ACTIVE CASEWORK 
 

 

 

Parish File Status Further details Application/Acceptance Active
Priority 

Ranking

North Ormsby 379 PF Claimed footpath between north end of PF 357 and metalled highway in centre of North Ormsby 14/11/2014 Yes 1

Hogsthorpe 49 PF Sea Lane to Maiden Lane 11/12/1986 Yes 2

Castle Bytham 136 RB RB 3 03/08/1994 Yes 3

Ancaster 2 RB to BOAT 13/11/1991 Yes 4

Coningsby 182 PF School Lane to Dogdyke Road 06/11/1997 Yes 5

Colsterworth / Gunby & Stainby 259 PF Colsterworth FP14 & Stainby FP 1(pt) 19/05/2004 Yes 6

Tetford 365 PF Addition of missing link to PF 33 30/09/2013 Yes 7

Long Bennington / Westborough & Dry Doddington 377 PF
Claimed footpath between Westborough Lane & bridge on Church St. along east bank of River Witham.  

Also access to route from Winters Lane & Sparrow Lane.
19/09/2014 Yes 8

Ludborough 378 PF Claimed footpath along track running to and from PF107 06/10/2014 Yes 9

Navenby 384 PB Claimed bridleway from Grantham Road to Doncaster Gardens 16/04/2015 Yes 10

South Willingham 97 PF Hainton Rd to High St 30/04/1986 Yes 11

South Willingham / Hainton 98 PF Moors Lane to A157 30/04/1986 Yes 12

South Willingham 99 PF Moors lane to Poplar Fm 30/04/1986 Yes 13

Woodhall Spa 193 PF Mill Lane to R.Witham Bank 12/05/1998 Yes 14

Heydour 48 PF PF to be diverted - from Southern end of PF 3 to church Lees 01/01/1985 No 15

Aunsby & Dembleby 5 PROW see file 11/07/1985 No 16

Mablethorpe and Sutton 106 PF High St to Broadway 16/09/1985 No 17

Grimoldby 43 PF from Mill Lane 23/10/1985 No 18

Burgh-le-Marsh 18 PF Faulkers Lane 10/02/1987 No 19

Stamford 101 PF Cherry Holt Lane to Priory Rd 03/04/1987 No 20

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



$01tkwjg3.xls

North East Lincolnshire DMMO's (Definitive Map Modification Orders)

Ref
Number Parish Location

Effect of
Application

Date of
Application Progress Notes

DMMO 7 Grimsby Vicarage
Gardens/Compton Drive to
Bargate

Claimed
Footpath

18/03/2008 Original claim submitted after landowner planned to lock Kissing Gate at centre of path
to restrict access and improve security of Vicarage Gardens. Elderly Vicarage Gardens
residents objected due to length of alternative route. Have written to certain providers of
evidence forms to arrange meeting to take witness statements. No responses received.

DMMO 8 Grimsby Macaulay Lane to
Newhaven Terrace

Claimed
Footpath

17/04/2008 Development of the Country Park has almost completed, which includes the provision of
a footpath along claimed line. Legal dedication of the path will be arranged in due course
to legalise path as Public Footpath which will resolve claim.
Country Park expected to open in summer 2017

DMMO 9 Grimsby Ferriby Lane to Bradley Claimed
Bridleway

17/05/2008 The remaining part of the route requires public consultation.

P
age 65

A
genda Item

 12



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 

 
 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills - Executive Director for Environment 
& Economy 

 

Report to: Mid Lincolnshire Local Access Forum 

Date: 4 April 2017 

Subject: Progress of Public Path Orders  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

A report on the progress of Public Path Orders 
 

 

Recommendation(s): 

That the report is noted and formal written advice given where required 
 

 
1. Background 
 

The County Council has a power to divert, extinguish or create public rights of way 
either of its own volition or following an application to do so from the public. The 
Council may also enter into agreements with landowners regarding the dedication 
of public rights. 

 
 

2. Summary of ongoing cases 

The County Council is currently working on a number of cases most notably as 
follows: 
 

 A package of 8 diversions to realign routes in the Coastal Country Park area 
including the potential dedication of a bridleway over a current footpath.  
Plans are currently with the Environment and Community Projects Team for 
review and a site visit is required shortly. 

 

 Level crossing diversion orders at Tallington to reduce risks at two level 
crossings 
 

 Orders to realign a number of PROW affected by a level crossing at 
Claypole which will also resolve "missing link" and path status change 
issues.  The routes are awaiting certification, which will happen in the 
coming months.  
 

 A diversion of part of Public Footpath No. 124 and extinguishment of a non-
definitive footpath at North Wold Farm in Tealby. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 13



Page 2 

 Extinguishment and creation orders in Market Deeping and Deeping St 
James parishes seeking to provide an improved route for a well-used public 
footpath in a developed area. 
 

 An extinguishment proposal in respect of an obstructed public footpath in 
Ruskington which lies close to a convenient alternative route: an Order was 
made 15th March. 

 
These public path orders have been undertaken as they fall within one of three of 
the following strategic areas: 
 

 Applications from members of the public where public benefit in the proposal 
can be demonstrated in line with the Council’s Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan. 

 

 Cases that form part of wider green infrastructure schemes (Coastal Country 
Park, Witham Valley Country Park etc.) 

 

 Cases forming part of wider Council strategies (Road / Rail Partnerships, 
Environmental strategies) 
 

The County Council is developing a provisional Public Path Order Policy, which will 
eventually determine the order in which proposals are processed.  This will need to 
be ratified before it can be implemented, and is subject to any changes necessary 
once regulations in respect of the Deregulation Act 2015 are issued. 
 
3. Consultation 

 
a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted? 

n/a 
 

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted?  

n/a 

c)  Scrutiny Comments 

n/a  
 

 
 

 

d)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

n/a 
 

 

4. Background Papers 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report.
 
This report was written by Catherine Beeby, Senior Definitive Map Officer, who can 
be contacted on 01522 782070 or countryside_access@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

Page 68



$c41x23dw.xls

North East Lincolnshire Public Path Orders

Ref No. Location & Path No.
Type of
Order

Self Initiated
or
Application Progress Notes

PPO 4 Waltham FP72 HA s119 Self initiated All the infrastructure has been built to accomodate the path.  The path will be
a deadend route until the substation is relocated.  Northern Powergrid have
given a time scale of 1 year time scale.

PPO 15 Stallingborough FP21 HA s118
& s26

Self initiated Meeting with a representitive of one of the landowners awaiting there
comments as they need to meet with tenants and trustees.  A meeting with
Wanderlust Ramblers has also taken place and options discussed with them.

PPO16 Humberston FP52 HA s119 Self initiated Diversion order to be made to relocate and reinstate this path which has been
unavailable for some time. 

PPO17 South Killingholme FP94 HA s119 Initiated by
North Lincs
Council

Signage to be installed. 

PPO 19 Stallingborough FP 37 HA118A Initiated by
Network Rail

Application for extinguishment

PPO 20 New Waltham TCPA
1990

Initiated by
developer

Order approved at Planning Committee subject to the Section 106 being
signed.

P
age 69

A
genda Item

 14



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting of the Mid Lincolnshire Local Access Forum held on 24 January 2017
	5 Generic Advice to Planners
	6 Permissive Access
	Suggested email to the local  MP
	SUGGESTED LETTER FOR MPs TO SEND TO  LORD GARDINER RELATING TO PERMISSIVE ACCESS IN YOUR LOCALITY

	7 Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO's)
	8 Bennerley Viaduct Project
	About the project 1
	About the structure 1
	Bennerley Heritage Trail Leaflet-final4
	Footpath route around Bennerley Viaduct
	Great Northern Greenway

	9 Countryside for All
	10 North East Lincolnshire Countryside and Rights of Way Improvement Plan
	11 Lincolnshire County Council Definitive Map Modification Orders - Ongoing
	12 North East Lincolnshire Council Progress of Definitive Map Modification Orders
	13 Lincolnshire County Council Progress of Public Path Orders
	14 North East Lincolnshire Council Progress of Public Path Orders

